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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  (Depuff Clerk)
FOR THE NORTHERN MARIANA ISLANDS

KSA CORPORATIONandIL HWAN KIM, CaseNo.: 16€v-00015

Plaintiffs,

DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT SALAS’SMOTION FOR

JIN AN HUN, EUN TAEK JEONG JOANN SUMMARY JUDGMENT
P.HENSLEY, OSCARM. BABAUTA,
RAMON S.SALAS, andDOES1-10,

VS.

Defendants

l. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs KSA Corporationandits presidentl Hwan Kim have brought aivil RICO claim
and two claims under thelaw of the Commonwealthof the Northern Mariana Islands(“CNMI”)
againstDefendantslin An Hun, Eun Taek Jeong,JoannP. Hensley,OscarM. BabautaRamonsS.
Salas,and Does 1-10for allegedlydefraudng them and taking their moneyby pretendingto help
themwith a hotel/casinanvestment orBaipan. DefendantBabautahas previouslybeendismissed
from the action. (SeeMinutesfor Aug. 24, 2017 ECF No. 46; Order,Jan.2, 2018,ECF No. 64.)
Beforethe Courtis DefendanSalass motionfor summaryjudgment. (ECFNos.54, 55.)

The motion has beenfully briefed and the Courthas reviewedall of the submissions

Argumentwasheardon DecembeR0, 2017 andthe Court took thenotionunderadvisement.

! Defendant'sMotion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support, ECF Nos. 58al85; Declaration, ECF

62; Salass Supplemental Declaration, ECF No.-62Nicholas Declaratioand Exhibits AJ, ECF No. 622; Deleon
Guerrero Declaration, ECF No. &2

No. 56;Plaintiffs’ Opposition ECF No. 60Plaintiffs’ Exhibits A-F, ECF No. 66l to 667; Defendant’s Reply, ECF No.

Doc. 66
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For thereasonarticulatedoelow, Defendant’smotionfor summaryjudgments GRANTED.
I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In December2006, Kim, a citizen of Korea,cameto Saipanas a touristand basedon his
observationsjecidedo investin anewtouristdestinatiorwith thirty to fifty million dollars. (Compl.
115, 17-19.) He met DefendantAn, also a citizen of Korea, who offeredto assisthim with the
investment. (Id. 116, 20-21.) An introducedKim to DefendanfTaek alsoacitizen of Koreaanda
longtime residentof Saipan who also promisedto assistwith the investment. (Id. 117, 24, 26.
BecauseKim did not speakor read English, An and Taek offered to handlethe financing and
permittingprocessasthey spokeKoreanand Englishandknew “all of the keyplayers” (Id. § 27—
28.) Kim wasinstructedby An and Taekto wire fundsto themon numerousccasionsothatthey
could use the fundfr the project. (Id. 1129, 31.) During this time, An and Taekalsointroduced
Kim to Salasandother governmertfficials. (Id. { 30.) As setforth in greateretailin the complaint
theseindividuals, includingHensley, allegedly engagedin a schemeto steal Kim’'s money by
pretendingo help him with hisinvestment. (Seegenerallyid.)

Relevantto this order, however,are the allegationsinvolving Salas,an employeeof the
Departmentof Public Lands untilate 2007 andthenagainbeginningin October2011. (SeeSalas
Decl. 119, 12,ECF No. 56.) Thefollowing are allegationsrelevantto the motion, takenfrom the
complaint,Salas’sDeclarationattachedo the motion,andKim’s Declarationattachedo Plaintiffs’
Opposition,andreadin thelight most favorabléo the non-movingarty.

e Taekspoketo Salasaboutleasinga parcelof publiclandin SanAntonio Village for the

investment. (Compl. § 37SalasDecl. | 4;Kim Decl. § 22.)
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Salasarrangeda meetingfor Kim with the CNMI governorto discusKim’s investmen
plans. SalasDecl. § 7;Kim Decl. { 24.)

On behalfof theCNMI, Salastraveledto Koreawith Taekandseveralothersto look into
Kim’s financing,and concludedthat Kim had sufficient assetdo pursue his investme
plans. (Compl. 1 5ZalasDecl. | 8;Kim Decl. | 25.)

After Kim’s leasewas approved,Kim askedSalashow longKSA hadto preparethe
financingfor the projectand construct theesort. (Compl. § 46Kim Decl. { 27.) Salas
told him thathehadtwo yearsfrom thedateof the executionof thelease. (Id. § 47;1d.)
WhenSalas’ssmploymemhcontractwith DPL wasnotrenewedhisemploymentvith DPL
endedn November 2007 (SalasDecl. 1 9.)

Kim’s leasewascancd edby DPL onMay 29, 2008 DeleonGuerreroDecl.,Ex. B, ECF
No. 62-3), and Kim was informed by An about thecancellationthe following month
(Compl. 1 64Kim Decl. | 34.)

Kim metwith Salasn SeptembeR008to hire him asa consultantSalasvasto assisKim
with gettingtheleaserestorecandwould be paid $60,000.(Compl. 11 66—67SalasDecl.
1910-11;Kim Decl. 131, 35; Consultantontract,Ex. A to SalasDecl) To paySalas
Kim wire transferredundsto An. (Compl. § 68Kim Decl. { 35.)

After Kim hired Salas,Salashid thefact that DPL requestedhat Kim enterinto final
negotiationgor movingforwardwith theinvestment. (Id. § 82(f).)

On Octoberl6, 2009 An told Kim thatheneededo pay moneyo the governoto restore
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thelease (Compl. { 70.Salaswassupposedo deliverthe money, buallegedlydid not
do so. [d. 11 70-71.)The complainstateghatthe amountiemandedvas$140,000and
thatKim wire transferredhe fundso An at SanJoseMarket, who was supposedo give
themto Salas. (Id.) Salasallegedlywassupposedo deliverthe fundgo the governor but
did not do so(Id.) However,Kim statesn hisDeclaratiorthatthe amountiemandedavas
$100,000.(Kim Decl. § 37.) Kim claimsto havewired $50,000to AJ PokerwhereSalas
wassupposedo pick it up. (d.)

“On informationandbelief,” Babautaand Salasdemandedhat Kim changethe nameof

KSA prior to renewingthelease. (Id. 1 77.)

In 2010, acompetitorobtained the blueprinfsr Kim’s projectfrom, “on informationand
belief,” SalasBabautaor both. (d.  82(g).)

After Kim’'s projectfell throughand his E2C visa was denied Salasagainallegedly
approache&im in late2013to convince hinto continuetrying to obtain dandlease.(ld.

1 94;Kim Decl. § 47.)

After theseeventstranspired Plaintiffs initiated this lawsuit by filing a verified complaint
signedby EddyHocog thevice-president oKSA Corp. (ECFNo. 1.) In thecomplaint,Plaintiffs
bring four claims: civil RICO in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)conspiracyto violate section
1962(c) under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(fhaud and aidingandabettingfraud. (Seegenerallyid.) The
partieshavecompleteddiscoverywhich closedon November 2, 2017.SeeECFNo. 51.)

As partof thecivil RICO claims,Plaintiffs allegethatSalasandtheotherdefendantsverepart

of an associatiorin-fact enterprisewith a schemeto obtainPlaintiffs’ confidentialinformationand
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money. (Compl. 1 108.)Theenterprisealsomadebribepaymentsto andthroughDefendanSalas”
as part of the scheme. (Id. § 114(d).) Further, Salas“extorted money” from Plaintiffs to obtain
approval of theprojectand leaseagreement. (Id. 11 114(f), 134.) In particular,Salasdemandec
payments on the four following occasioiaigustl1, 2007;Septembe008;Octoberl6, 2009;and
July 2013. id. 1 135.)
. LEGAL STANDARD

On amotionfor summaryjudgment broughby a defendanagainsta plaintiff's claims,there
is a“shifting burden of proof.”In re Oracle Corp. Sec.Litig., 627 F.3d 376, 38{®th Cir. 2010). As
setforth by theNinth Circuit in In re Oracle, 627 F.3cat 387:

The moving party initially bearsthe burden of proving thabsenceof a
genuinessueof materialfact. CelotexCorp.v. Catrett 477U.S.317, 323,
106S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986)Vherethe non-movingartybears
the burden of prooddttrial, the movingparty needonly provethatthereis
anabsencef evidenceto support the non-moving partyéase.ld. at 325,
106S.Ct. 2548 .Wherethe movingpartymeetgshatburden, the burdehén
shiftsto the non-movingartyto designatespecificfactsdemonstrating the
existenceof genuindassuedor trial. Id. at 324, 106S.Ct. 2548.This burden
is not alight one.The non-movingparty must showmore thanthe mere
existenceof ascintilla of evidence Andersonv. Liberty Lobby,Inc., 477
U.S. 242, 252, 1065. Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986Jhe non-moving
partymust domorethanshowthereis some*metaphysicadoubt”asto the
materialfacts at issue.MatsushitaElec. Indus. Co., Ltdv. Zenith Radio
Corp, 475U.S.574, 586, 1065. Ct. 1348, 89 L.Ed.2d 538 (198ah fact,
the non-movingparty mustcomeforth with evidencefrom which a jury
could reasonably render werdict in the non-movingparty's favor.
Anderson477U.S.at 252, 106 SCt. 2505.In determiningwhethera jury
could reasonablyrender averdict in the non-moving party'$avor, all
justifiableinferencesareto bedrawnin its favor.

V. DISCUSSION

Salasseekssummaryjudgment omall claims. Plaintiffs contendthat they havesufficiently

5
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raisedquestions ofmaterialfactto defeatthe motion.

A. RICO Claim under Section1962(c)

Salasmaintainsthat he hasnot participatedin a patternof racketeeringoecausehereis no
evidenceto show hereceivedbribes orextortedmoneyfrom Plaintiffs by threateningo withhold
approval oftheir project. (Motion at 10.) Plaintiffs arguethat “there is a clearpatternof activity”
with “dozens ofpredicateactsover aperiod of years.” (Pls. Opposition 21ECF No. 60.) At the
hearing,Plaintiffs further assertedhatfor this claim, including theconspiracyclaim, they neednot
provethat Salashimself actuallycommittedtwo or more predicateacts,but onlythat the enterprise
did so.

An elementof anyRICO claimis thatthedefendantsnust engagen apatternof racketeering|
To constitutea pattern,‘theremust beat leasttwo actsof racketeeringactivity within tenyearsof one
another,”andevenif therearetwo suchacts,theymay not besufficient. Turnerv. Cook 362 F.3d
1219, 1229(9th Cir. 2004). Furthermorewhere the claim is a substantiveviolation of section
1962(c)—not a conspiracsharge—"each individual defendantmust be showro havepersonally
participatedn apatternof racketeeringctivity,” i.e., participatedn two or morepredicateacts. Cmte.
to ProtectOur Agric. Waterv. OccidentalOil andGasCorp, 235F. Supp. 3d 1132, 117Z.D. Cal.
2017) (quotingZzazzaliv. Ellison, 973F. Supp. 2d. 1187, 12QD. Idaho 2013))In re WellPoint,Inc.
Out-of-NetworkUCR Ratesdlitig., 865F. Supp. 2d 1002, 103&(D. Cal.2011)(same).

In support oftheir argument,Paintiffs submittedKim’s Declaration (ECF No. 604), a
spreadshedhathe preparedo show thewire transfershe made(ECF No. 60-3), &lass depositior

(ECFNo. 604), acopy of theland clearingpermit (ECF No. 605), andSalass consultingcontract.
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(ECFNo. 60-6.) Plaintiffs havealsofiled averified complaintwhichtypically mayserveasevidence
providedthattheinformationis basedn aplaintiff’'s personaknowledgeandsetsforth “specificfacts
admissiblein evidence.” Schroedew. McDonald 55 F.3d 454, 46(9th Cir. 1995); Fed.R.Civ.R.
56(c)(4) In this case theverified complaintwassubscribedo asbeingtrueandcorrectby Mr. Eddy
A. Hocog,Jr., vice-presidentof KSA Corporation. Hocogis not mentionedanywheren thefactual
allegationsas being presentor a participantin any of the meetingsto show personal knowledge.
Therefore thefactsin theverified complaintareinadmissiblesvidence.

Considering theemainingdocumentsPlaintiffs havefailed to showthatthereis a question o
materialfact asto whetherSalasparticipatedn a patternof racketeering.Plaintiffs allegethatSalas’
predicateacts consist ofviolating 18 U.S.C. § 1951-nterferencewith commerceby threatsor
violence—by demanding paymentfsom Plaintiffs on more thantwo occasions. (Compl.  134.
Specifically, Plaintiffs allegethat Salasdemanded payments @ugust1, 2007, Septembe008,
October16, 2009.and July 2013,'to proceedwith the permitting.” (Id.  135.) The allegationsin
paragraphl35 cannot beelied on asevidencedespitebeingin the verified complaintbecausehey
arebasedon “information andbelief,” notKim’s personal knowledgendno source of theelief or
informationis provided. See Kelly v. Sec.Pac. Nat'| Bank 954 F.2d 727at *2 (9th Cir. 1992)
(unpublished) (holding court did not abuBscretionby finding complaininadmissibldbecause¢here
was no demonstratiorof plaintiff’'s personalknowledgeand no explanationof sourcesfrom which
beliefswerederived citing Cermetekinc. v. Butler Avpak,Inc., 573 F.2d 1370, 137®th Cir. 1978)).

Kim alsostatesn his Declarationthatin October2009,Salas asinterpretedoy An, told him

to pay $100,00@0 besplit betweerSalasand GovernoFitial, andthatKim thenwired $50,000t0 AJ
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Pokerfor Salasandthat Salaswas supposedo pick it up. (Kim Decl. § 37.) He alsostateghat the
attachedspreadsheet avire transfersvascreatedy him andis accurate.(Id.  16.) Thespreadshee
shows nowire transferin October2009and no transferaroundthattime in the amount of $50,00
(SeeECFNo. 60-3.) Thus,Kim’s allegationis contradictedby his own documentaryevidence.The
Courtthereforefindsthata reasonabltact-finder would notcredittheallegation. Plaintiffs’ counse
arguedhatKim’s spreadsheétem number 1lshowsa payment of $80,0Q0 AJ Poker somimeiin
2009, and that this payment corroboratesKim’s statement. However, this argumentis pure
speculation; thectualamounttransferreds neitherthe full $100,000allegedlydemandechor the
$50,000thatKim declarecheactuallywired. Moreover to theextentthatPlaintiffsrely on 18 U.S.C
§ 1951asthe pedicateact, duringthis time Salaswasnotemployedoy DPL andthereforecould not
beactingunder color ofitle.

Thus,all thatremainsarethetwo actsdemandingpaymentseferencedn paragrapii34 of the
complaintashavingbeencommittedby both SalasandBabauta.However,thereare no datesfor the
acts and Plaintiffs havefailed to provide evidenceto substantiateheseallegations. Although on
summaryjudgment the Court must construe flaetsin favor of the nonmovingoarty, that party
“cannotrely onconclusoryallegationsunsupportedby factualdatato createanissueof materialfact”
whenit reliesonly onits ownaffidavits. Emeldiv. Univ. of Oregon 698F.3d715, 7199th Cir. 2012).
Here, although Plaintiffs have submitted additional evidenceto supportKim’s Declaration the
spreadsheetand permit, contract,and Salass deposition do noaddresgsheseallegedtwo acts of
extortion. As discussegreviously, theverified complaintis notadmissiblesvidence. Accordingly,

becausehereareno additionafactsto substantiate thallegedtwo incidents thereis no evidenceto
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createa question omaterialfactto counter the motiofor summaryjudgment.

In sum,thereis no evidenceto showthat Salascommittedtwo or more predicateacts,and
thereforeno patternof racketeeringandthesection1962(c)claim must bedismissed.

B. RICO Conspiracy Claim under Section1962(d)

Unlike asection1962(c)claim, under asection1962(d) conspiracglaim, noteverydefendan
must havecarriedout two predicateacts. To prove a section1962(d)claim, a plaintiff must show
either“an agreementhatis a substantiveiolation of RICO or thatthe defendantagreedo commit,
or participatedn, aviolation of two predicateoffenses.” Howardv. Am. Onlinelnc., 208 F.3d 741
751 (9th Cir. 2000).

Plaintiffs argue that the evidence demonstrateshat a conspiracyexisted becauseall
DefendantaisedKim’s moneyand pretendedo assistKim with his investment. (PIs’. Opposition
23.) Plaintiffsclarified attheDecembef0hearngthatthe moneysalasobtained undethe consulting
contractis evidencahatheagreedo participatein the conspiracyhecauseinderethicalruleshewas
not permittedto enterinto the consultingontract.

The verified complaint,Kim’s declaration and the otherevidencedo not showthat Salag
agreedto commit a RICO violation or showagreemento commit or participatein two predicate
offenses. As setforth above, the complairtannotserveas evidencebecauset is not signedby
someonavith personal knowledgef theevents. Evenconsidering theomplaint,it would notraise
a question omaterialfactasto whetherSalasagreedo participateor assiswith predicateacts. First,
none of theadmissibleevidence supports tlataim that Salasinterferedwith commerceby threatof

violence oractingunder color ofofficial right under 18 U.S.C. § 1951Second, none of the oth
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predicateactslistedreferencesalasasparticipatingagreeingo, or knowing about thellegedoffenses
suchaswire fraud.

Third, evenconsideringall of the paragraphiéstedin Sectionll (Background)hat mention
SalashothingdemonstratethatSalasagreedo participatein theconspiracyknew of the conspiracy
or agreedto commit or participatein racketeering. For example,paragraph 30 ofthe complaint
indicatesthat An introducedKim to Salas,but that shows nothingnore than acquaintancenot
agreement.Similarly, paragrapi7 of the complainstatesthat Salastold Kim he hadtwo yearsto
completeconstructionafter the leasewas executed put that shows nothing abowtn agreemenbr
racketeering.Eventhoughit is truethat Salasenterednto a consultingontractwith Kim, thereis no
evidencedo substantiatéhatit wasenterednto asameansof defraudingKim. Salasadmittedduring
his depositiorthathewasinformedthathe should no¢nterinto the contract dut ethicsrules(Salas
Depo. 79, butthatdoes not shownagreementith the otter Defendantso defraudKim.

ParagrapfrOof thecomplaintimplicatesSalashy claimingthatonOctoberl6, 2009An called
Kim to saythatthe Governor wouldestoe theleaseif he paid $140,000which would be givento
Salasto give to the Governor.However,the wire transferspreadsheethowsno transferon ornear
October2009in this amount.

Further,theallegationgan paragraphs 7@nd82(g) of the complairdrebasedoninformation
andbelief, not personal knowledgandthereforecannotserveasevidenceto showanagreement.

Next, paragraph 82(f) indicates that Salas hid information from Kim, but no evidence
than the verified complaint substantiates this conclusion. Without more, this isciesaffo raise a

guestion of material factSee Emeldi698 F.3d at 719.
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Additionally, paragraph 111 concludes that all defendants, including Salas, berreiite
Kim’s confidential information and funds, provided or sold Kim’'s information to another iny
and retained an interest in KSA. No other allegations set fonth $mlas benefited from th
information or funds, that he provided Kim’s information to another investtiner than the
allegation made “on information and belief"—and nothing suggests he retained ast int&sA.

Finally, paragraph 114 claims that lies were made by and through Salas as part @
enterprise. However, no facts are provided to substantiate this vague, conchisongist.

Turning to Kim’s Declaration,the Courthas consideredthe material as a whole, and
particularlyparagraph22-25, 35, 37and47 astheypertainto Salas. As with the complaint,these
statementareinsufficientto raisea question ofmaterialfact. For example paragrap2 stateshat
TaekaskedSalasaboutleasingland. Thisin noway evidencesa conspiracy oagreemento defraud
Kim. In fact, nothingin thatparagraph showbatSalasevenknew abouKim atthattime. Similarly,
paragraph23 indicatesthat Kim metwith Salas,and An and Taek met with Salasabout thdease
Nowheredoest indicatethatwhenthesemeetingdbetweern, Taek,andSalasoccurred, thepgreed

to defraudKim. Thissameproblemis apparenin paragraphs 24, 25, 38nd47. Salaswvasinvolved

in arrangingtheleasefor Kim while Salasvasemployedby DPL, but nothingndicatesanagreement

to defraudhim.

Finally, although paragraph 3Taimsthat Salasdemande&100,000rom Kim andthatKim
transferredb50,000to Salas the spreadshealoes not suppothis claim. Furthermorethe demand
paymentby Salaswas “through An’s trarslation,” and “pursuantto An’s instructions,” hewired

moneyto AJ Pokerand Salaswasto pick it up from there.Accordingly, nothingin the evidence
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submittedsuggestshat Salasagreedo defraudKim.

Thebriefin oppositiondescribegheallegedconspiacyasAn bringingin Taek,Taekbringing
in Salasandthatall of themmadeuse oKim’s moneywhile pretendingo helphim. (Pls’. Opposition
1 90.) Plaintiffs’ own evidencedoesnot bearout this description. Thereareno factsto suggest tha
Sala was broughtinto the conspiracyby Taekor that he usedKim’s moneywhile defrauding him
At most, the evidencesuggestghat Salasreceived$20,000 under the consultimgntract,but this
arrangementn itself does not suggest a conspiracyagreemento defraudKim. Accordingly,
Plaintiffs havefailed to raisea question ofmaterialfact asto whetherSalasconspiredwith the other
defendants.

C. Fraud and Aiding and Abetting Fraud Claims

Salasdid notpresentargumentn his written motion or reply brief asto why heis entitledto
summaryjudgment ontheseclaims. Plaintiffs similarly did not addresstheseclaims in their
oppositionbrief. At theDecembef0, 2017 hearing, the Cowavenoticethatit wasinclinedto grant
summaryudgment ortheseclaimsbecausélaintiffs hadnot pleadedheclaimswith particularityor
submittedanyevidenceo support thelaimsasto Salas.Becausélaintiffs werepreviously on noticg
thatSalasvasseekingull summaryjudgmentdespite his ndtriefingtheCommonwealthaw claims,
Plaintiffs weregivenan additional opportunityo presenargumenduring thehearing.

Having consideredhe complaint,documentsubmitted and the oral argumentgrovidedby
Plaintiffs, the Courtconcludesthat there is no question ofmaterial fact with respectto the
Commonwealthaw claims. Fraudclaimsmustbe pleadedwith particularity. SeevVessv. Ciba-Geigy

Corp. USA 317 F.3d 1097, 110@®th Cir. 2003) (stating Rule 9(b)appliesto statelaw claims).
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Generic allegationsare insufficientto meet the standardof Rule 9(b); instead the pleadingsmust
identify “the circumstancesonstitutingfraud,” including“the time, place,andspecificcontentof the
falserepresentationaswell astheidentitiesof the parties.” Odomv. Microsoft Corp, 486 F.3d 541
553 (9th Cir. 2007).

In this case Salass not mentionedby namein anyof theallegationdisted under thehird and
fourth cause®f action. (SeeCompl.f1147-161.)Whathespecificallysaidto Kim, aswell aswhen
andwhereit wassaid,is alsonot included. For example,under thethird causeof action, Plaintiffs
allegethat “An, encouragedy the other Defendantsknowingly and intentionally misrepresente
severalmateria factsto Mr. Kim andKSA. Specifically,in advanceof, during, and following the
June, AugusandSeptembeR007projectmeetingsPefendantsnisrepresentetb Mr. Kim andKSA
continuednterestin closing thehotel/casingrojectdealin Saipan.” (Id. 1 149.) Nowheredoes the
complaint orKim’s Declarationinclude allegationsasto how orwhen Salasencouragedin, and
nowheran those documenis thereanexplanatiorof howSalasallegedlymisrepresentehisinterest
in thehotel/casingroject.

Because the discovergutoff in this casewasNovember2, 2017(ECFNo. 51), andPlaintiffs
couldandshould haveamendedhe complainearlierif newevidencenadcometo light to supporthe
allegationspr atleastpresentedhe evidencen oppositionto the motionfor summaryudgmentthe
claimsagainstSalasaredismissedvith prejudice.
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V. CONCLUSION
For the reasonsetforth above,DefendantSalass motion for summaryjudgment(ECF No.
54)is GRANTED. Accordingly, the jurytrial dateandall otherhearingspertainingto Salasin this
matterareherebyvacated.
Becausehereis no justreasorfor delay,theClerk of Courtis directedto enterfinal judgment
in favor of Salasonall four claimspursuanto Fed.R.Civ.P. 54(b).
IT ISSOORDERED.

Datedthis 4th of January2018.

W fotfrns—

RAMONA V. IV(AAIGLONA
Chief Judge
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